
 

 
OFFICIAL 

 
Agenda 

Meeting: Shareholder Committee 

To: Councillors Carl Les (Chairman), Derek Bastiman and 
Gareth Dadd. 

Date: Tuesday, 21st March 2023 

Time: 1.00 pm 

Venue: Room 3, County Hall, Northallerton 

 

This meeting is being held as an in-person meeting and in public. The government position is that 
of learning to live with COVID-19, removing domestic restrictions while encouraging safer 
behaviours through public health advice. In view of this, hand cleanser and masks will be available 
for attendees upon request.  The committee room will be well ventilated and attendees 
encouraged to avoid bottlenecks and maintain an element of social distancing. Please contact the 
named supporting officer for the committee, if you have any queries or concerns about the 
management of the meeting and the approach to COVID-19 safety. 
 
Please do not attend if on the day you have COVID-19 symptoms or have had a recent positive 
Lateral Flow Test. 
 
Further details of the government strategy (Living with COVID-19 Plan) is available here – 
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-guidance-sets-out-how-to-live-safely-with-covid-19 
 

Business 
 
1.   Minutes of the meeting held on 14 February 2023 

 
(Pages 3 - 4) 

2.   Declarations of interest 
 

 

3.   Public Questions & Statements  
 Members of the public may ask questions or make statements at this meeting if they 

have given notice to Melanie Carr of Democratic and Scrutiny Services and supplied 
the text (contact details below) by midday on Thursday 16 January 2020, three 
working days before the day of the meeting.  Each speaker should limit themselves 
to 3 minutes on any item.  Members of the public who have given notice will be 
invited to speak: 

 at this point in the meeting if their questions/statements relate to matters which 
are not otherwise on the Agenda (subject to an overall time limit of 30 minutes) 

 when the relevant Agenda item is being considered if they wish to speak on a 
matter which is on the Agenda for this meeting. 

If you are exercising your right to speak at this meeting, but do not wish to be recorded, 
please inform the Chairman who will instruct anyone who may be taking a recording 
to cease while you speak. 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-guidance-sets-out-how-to-live-safely-with-covid-19


 

 
OFFICIAL 

 
4.   Exclusion of the public from the meeting during consideration of each of the items 

of business listed in Column 1 of the following table on the grounds that they each 
involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the paragraph(s) 
specified in column 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
as amended by the Local Government (Access to information)(Variation) Order 
2006: 
 

  

Item number on the agenda 
 

Paragraph Number 

6 – Appendices 1 & 2 3 
  

 
5.  

 
Brierley Group Quarter 3 2022/23 Performance Report 

 
(Pages 5 - 12) 

 Recommendation:  That the Shareholder Committee notes the update. 
 

6.   Border to Coast Governance Arrangements (Pages 13 - 120) 
 Recommendations: 

The Shareholder Committee are asked to approve:  

i. The updated Border to Coast Pensions Partnership Limited governance 

documents, being the Inter-Authority Agreement 

ii. The Shareholder Agreement and the Articles of Association, appended to the 

report  

The Shareholder Committee is also asked to delegate: 

iii. The Council entering into the two agreements to the Assistant Chief Executive 

(Legal and Democratic Services). 

iv. Nomination of an appropriate shareholder representative to the Council’s Chief 

Executive Officer 

7.   Work Programme (Pages 121 - 122) 
 Purpose of the Report: To consider and develop the Work Programme for the 

Shareholder Committee 
 

8.   Other business which the Chair agrees should be considered as a because of 
special circumstances 

 
Contact Details  
Enquiries relating to this agenda please contact Melanie Carr Tel: 01609 533849 or e-mail: 
Melanie.carr1@northyorks.gov.uk 
Website: www.northyorks.gov.uk 
 
 
Barry Khan 
Assistant Chief Executive 
(Legal and Democratic Services) 
 
County Hall 
Northallerton 
 
13 March 2023 

Page 2

mailto:Melanie.carr1@northyorks.gov.uk
http://www.northyorks.gov.uk/


North Yorkshire County Council 
 

Shareholder Committee 
 
Minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday, 14th February, 2023 commencing at 1.00 pm. 
 
County Councillor Carl Les in the Chair plus County Councillors Gareth Dadd and Derek Bastiman. 
 
In attendance: County Councillors George Jabbour. 
 
Officers present: Richard Flinton, Barry Khan, Vicki Dixon and Will Baines. 
 
Apologies:  Gary Fielding. 
 

 
Copies of all documents considered are in the Minute Book 

 

 
12 Minutes of the meeting held on 18 October 2022 

 
Resolved –  
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 18 October 2022, having been printed and 
circulated, be confirmed as read and signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 
 
 

13 Declarations of interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

14 Public Questions & Statements 
 
There were no questions or statements from the public.  
 
 

15 Transferral of shares in District and Borough Companies to North Yorkshire Council 
 
Considered – The report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal & Democratic Services) 
updating Members as to the transfer of NYCC owned companies to the new authority. 
 
There are a number of companies owned by the District and Borough Councils. As part of 
Local Government Reorganisation (LGR), the District and Borough Councils will 
automatically transfer to the new authority, North Yorkshire Council. However, the 
ownership of the companies (including ownership of shares and membership rights) 
requires steps to be taken to transfer to the new authority.  Shares and members interests 
will need to be transferred in accordance with company law procedure to ensure they can 
continue to operate. 
 
As North Yorkshire County Council (NYCC) is the “Continuing Authority”, the legal entity 
for ownership of NYCC shares or company limited by guarantee (CLG) membership 
interest remains the same. Therefore, the shares in these companies will automatically 
transfer to the new authority. The company registers shall be updated and any required 
confirmation statements will be filed at Companies House. 
 
It is necessary for North Yorkshire County Council to approve the acquisition of the shares Page 3

Agenda Item 1



and/or interests prior to the new authority coming into existence. This will include all 
necessary agreements to facilitate the transfers, such as transfer agreements and Deeds 
of Adherence. 
 
A discussion was held about the appointing the membership of the Companies that will 
transfer over to North Yorkshire Council and it was agreed to delegate this to the Chief 
Executive, in consultation with the Leader.    
 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the Shareholder Committee: 
 

i. Approve the acquisition of shares and/or interests in the Companies as set out in 
Appendix 1 

 

ii. Delegate the approval of the Council entering into the documents required to 
transfer the Companies to the new authority to the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal 
& Democratic Services)  

 

iii. Delegate any decisions relating to the financial implications of acquiring the shares 
and/or membership of the Companies to the Corporate Director (Strategic 
Resources) and  

 

iv. Authorise the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal & Democratic Services) to take all 
other necessary steps to facilitate the transfer of the companies or to take any other 
appropriate action to ensure the smooth transition to North Yorkshire Council. 

 

v. Delegate to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader, to: 
 

i. Take whatever steps are necessary with regard to the transfer and cessation 
of Veritau North Yorkshire. 

ii. Make appointments to all of the companies, listed in Appendix 1, that will 
transfer to North Yorkshire Council from the District and Borough councils. 

 
 

16 Work Programme 
 
Members considered and endorsed the work programme for the Committee for the 
remainder of 2022/23. 
 
 

The meeting concluded at 1.30 pm. 

Page 4



 

 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

North Yorkshire County Council 
 

Shareholder Committee 
 

21 March 2023 
 

Brierley Group 2022/23 Quarter 3 Financial Performance report 
 

Report of the Assistant Director Strategic Resources 
 
1.0 Purpose of the Report 
 
1.1 For the Shareholder Committee’s consideration, this report presents: 

 

 Brierley Group 2022/23 Q3 Financial Performance report – Appendix A 
 

2.0 Recommendation 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Shareholder Committee note the Brierley Group 2022/23 

Q3 Financial Performance report in Appendix A. 
 

 
 
VICKI DIXON 
Assistant Director 
Strategic Resources BES/CS 
 
13 March 2023 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



Appendix A 

 OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Shareholders Committee 
 
Brierley Group Financial Update 
 
2022/23 Quarter 3 Financial Performance Report 
 
 
 

Page 6



Appendix A 

 
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
1 Brierley Group Headlines 
 
1.1 While Group performance continues to be mixed due to the diverse markets in which 

the Brierley Group organisations operate, 6 of the 8 organisations are projected to 
deliver pre-tax trading profits, with 5 of these out-performing associated 2022/23 
Budgets. Overall, the 2022/23 group out turn projection is a £2.69m pre-tax profit vs 
a budget of £2.61m; representing a £82k out-performance.  

 
1.2 Revenue remains significantly ahead of Budget, however all market segments 

continue to experience material cost increases, with inflationary pressures in the UK 
acting to drive up general costs of sale. UK CPI was 10.5% at the end of the third 
quarter. Alongside more established labour and energy cost increases, food and 
cleaning materials in North Yorkshire Education Services (NYES) and external 
operations for NY Highways (NYH) continue to present cost control challenges.    

 

1.3 Interest rate rises continue to impact, with the BoE base rate having increased by 
3.25% since the beginning of the 2022/23 trading year. This acts to increase the 
interest payable within a number of the loan-financed companies such as NY 
Highways and Brierley Homes. The consolidated financial summary projects interest 
payable across the group is set to outstrip the associated Budget by £442k, with 
much of this being deliverable as shareholder value back to NYCC in the Council’s 
capacity as a lender.  

 
1.4 The Group continues to present strong shareholder value to NYCC, with £10.42m 

deliverable in 2022/23 through group profitability and income via Service Level 
Agreements, loan interest and the financial benefit of the Allerton Waste Recovery 
Park contractual agreement. This represents an increase of just over £1m to prior 
quarter projections; driven by the aforementioned increases to loan interest 
payments as well as individual trading performance.  
 

1.5 A tight labour market continues to present challenges across the group and is 
proving to be a limiting factor on some business growth opportunities. Unemployment 
rates continue to hold at near historic lows; running at 3.7% for Q3. This has 
combined with an additional 500k people becoming economically inactive since 2019 
to create a highly competitive employment marketplace in which recruitment of 
appropriately skilled and experienced staff is extremely challenging. These factors 
continue to drive numerous vacancies throughout the portfolio.  
 

1.6 As at Q3, Align, NYNET, First North Law and Yorwaste are tracking ahead of budget; 
delivering strong returns into the Group. Brierley Homes had completed all sales at 
its Woodfield Square development by the end of Q3, with exchange and completion 
of the final units at Millwright Park site set for Q4. Around half of the unit sales at the 
development at Marton-cum-Grafton are also set to complete before the end of 
2022/23.     

 

1.7 The final NJC pay agreement acted to place further cost pressures onto NYES, with 
staff intensive Facilities services more acutely impacted. The Catering service acted 
to mitigate the effect of the pay rise with a re-pricing exercise (effective from the 1st 
January 2023). NYES is cognisant that such action places further pressure onto 
school budgets, with other services continuing to work closely with customers to 
balance pricing and service viability.  

 

1.8 Align Property Partners (APP) has a strong order book and continues to expand and 
recruit in order to capitalise on new market opportunities. APP have delivered 
significant workflows into NYH throughout the year to December and are set to 
outperform 2022/23 trading targets by a significant margin.  Page 7



Appendix A 

 
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
1.9 Further increases in electricity and gas prices are driving additional power generation 

revenue for Yorwaste. This continues to mitigate fuel price impacts for the Company. 
Tight cost control and vacancy savings have also helped to drive financial 
performance for the business. 
 

1.10 NY Highways (NYH) revenue has benefited from increased Capital & Tender work 
during the year. Cost savings resulting from a mild Winter have also helped to 
alleviate some of the inflationary pressures and increased financing costs faced by 
the Company. As external work is tracking behind budget, this is driving a reduced 
profit outturn for the company in comparison to Budget. 

 
  
 
2. Current Challenges 
 
2.1 The immediate challenges for the Brierley Group are to navigate the economic 

headwinds in order to maintain healthy trading margins across a diverse range of 
sectors. This is to be achieved through a combination of tight cost control and the 
repricing of product lines where appropriate in order to maximise shareholder return. 
The financial outlook is for the UK to be entering a shallow and potentially protracted 
recession by the end of the financial year, which could further impact on areas such 
as NYES, Align and Yorwaste particularly. 
 

 

2.2 While NYES Catering has acted to address some of the cost pressures caused by 
the NJC pay settlement, it should be noted that the new meal prices only come into 
effect from January 2023 and the impact upon take-up is yet to be fully gauged with 
the actual results playing though in Q4 and beyond. NYES Cleaning is the other 
service most significantly impacted by the effect of the pay award, which is more 
favourable to employees on lower spinal points, where a large proportion of the 
Cleaning workforce sit. In addition to the pay pressures, the service continues to 
have issues with the recruitment and retention of staff and is carrying a significant 
number of vacant roles. While this is favourable to the short-term financial position, it 
presents capacity limitations that may prevent the Service from pursuing certain new 
bids and tenders. 
 

2.3 Work continues to prepare the Local Authority for Local Government Reorganisation 
(LGR) with the new single unitary council in place from April 2023. Several work 
streams are in place to ensure a smooth legal and operational transition. This 
continues to require resource from across the Council and companies and therefore 
the capacity to bid for and deliver additional new work is reduced in the short term. 
 

2.4 Brierley Homes saw the practical completion of Woodfield Square and Millwright Park 
sites during Q2, with delays in construction schedules caused by national labour and 
materials shortages having pushed sales completions into Q3/Q4. However, all plots 
at both developments are reserved and associated sale values will be fully realised 
this financial year. Further sale completions are anticipated throughout Q4 at the Yew 
Tree Farm site, with revenue projections remaining favourable to the outline business 
cases for all 3 developments. 

 

2.5 Facilitation and Construction work commenced at the Whorlton Meadows 
development as well as The Paddocks at Great Ouseburn, where a hybrid delivery 
model has been utilised in order to address increasing cost pressures in the 
construction sector and the impact upon scheme viability.   

 
2.6 While growth within First North Law (FNL) has been limited by its ability to attract and Page 8



Appendix A 

 
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

recruit to key roles, the Company has engaged legal recruitment specialists on these 
terms and made some traction in the market. With the successful recruitment of a 
Commercial Lawyer in Q3, FNL is looking to finish this financial year strongly and 
build into 2023/24. 

 
2.7 The key issue for APP remains consolidating significant Company expansion with the 

recruitment and retention of appropriately skilled staff in a very competitive 
marketplace in order to reduce the reliance upon agency resource. APP have 
engaged with the NYCC resourcing team to conduct a targeted campaign to backfill 
the key vacant roles. Further potential challenges stem from the overarching 
economic conditions prompting an element of APP’s potential client-base to 
substantially scale back or delay the commencement of planned projects in 2023/24. 
This presents a challenge to Company growth, though it is envisaged that APP will 
continue to perform in line with existing business plan targets. 
    

2.8 Yorwaste continued its strong financial performance into Q3 with an increase in 
revenue due to electricity pricing levels. Customer price increases were broadly in 
line with the wider market and therefore the Company has not seen any signs of 
increased attrition. The majority of lost trading has been due to business closures 
and, while commercial sales have underperformed, this has been mitigated by 
reduced disposal tonnage and associated costs. Future challenges revolve largely 
around economic factors both in terms of fuel costs as well as the anticipated 
recession impacting a significant element of the Yorwaste customer base with early 
signs of reduced footfall already being shown in the hospitality sector. 

 
2.9 Quarter 3 saw NY Highways (NYH) enter the winter maintenance season and this 

has gone substantively to plan. The winter period has been milder than expected 
thus far and has allowed the Company to fully review fleet requirements and carry 
out work around route optimisation. It is expected that this will impact significantly in 
the next financial year by which time NYH will have disposed of excess and 
redundant assets. 

 
 
3 Current and future areas of development 

 
3.1 An NYES pricing review continues, with in year pricing in relation to commissioned 

bespoke work seeing immediate price increases to reflect the revised costs of service 
delivery. Pricing has been revised across all services as part of the annual service 
review, which will bring services back into a viable and sustainable position for   
2023/24. However, NYES are keenly aware of the immediate impact on school 
budgets and relationship managers are working proactively with customers to 
communicate revised pricing structures. 
 

3.2 Brierley Homes has adopted a flexible procurement approach that allows the 
business to manage construction costs and appoint best-fit contractors. This flexibility 
extends to the delivery mechanism, with Construction Management or Partnering 
approaches being assessed and approved on a case by case basis. This allows the 
Company to ensure the right fit of product, location, and procurement for each 
individual business case.  
 

3.3 NYnet is continuing to develop partnership opportunities with NYCC that will 
strengthen the Company and allow alternative delivery methods for NYC. NYnet work 
on Internet of Things (IOT) gateways is still in active trials, with the developed 
systems then due to be productised for commercial sale. The IoT gateway systems 
allow devices to exchange real time information with cloud databases. This will 
enable NYC, Brierley Group companies and other client organisations to work more 
efficiently with the faster and more dynamic exchange of operational/management 
information and data. 

 
Page 9



Appendix A 

 
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

3.4 NYH work continues to identify all costs associated with operations and make 
savings based on intelligence-led financial data. Consolidation of terms and 
conditions across the business means the Company now has over 82% of 
employees on NYH terms and conditions and this is expected to increase further as 
the company moves into 2023/24. An NYH restructure has been completed that is 
aimed at mirroring the champion roles operated by NYCC. This has been well 
received by the operational teams with engagement sessions being held across all 
depots as NYH continue to respond to issues raised and maintain positive 
engagement with their people. Q4 should see continued progress in this area in 
preparation for an exciting 2023/24. 
 

4 2022/23 Q3 Brierley Group Financial Summary 
 

4.1 The following tables set out the 2022/23 outturn financial position for North Yorkshire 
County Council’s share of the Brierley Group, and the total value to NYCC as 
shareholder of the Brierley Group companies. 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

4.2 The consolidated trading profit before tax is a projected 2022/23 out turn of £2.69m 
against a budget of £2.61m. Align, NYNET, First North Law and Yorwaste continue to 
track ahead at Q3 with a positive outlook for sales completions in Brierley Homes 
driving a full year projection that also exceeds Budget. The majority of the adverse 
trading conditions in the group continue to come from within NYES, although full year 
projections have improved here also. NYES Professional Service areas continue to 
successfully operate using remote / hybrid delivery models, while the resource intensive 
Facilities Management segment has partially mitigated cost increases.  
 

4.3 The Brierley Group continues to explore areas of synergy from which benefits of scale 
and shareholder value can be derived. Examples of these synergies include shared 
sales and marketing functions as well as non-operational overheads, where packages 
of support for Finance, HR, Legal and other professional services are delivered across Page 10



Appendix A 

 
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

the Group. The leveraging of the group’s scale is integral to generating further 
efficiencies and remaining cost competitive     
 

4.4 North Yorkshire Education Services   
 

4.5 NYES is forecasting a trading loss for 2022/23 with the underperformance largely 
attributable to NYES Catering within the Facilities Management segment. A pricing 
review has resulted in a projected trading loss in Q2 now moving towards a break-even 
position but this is still short of the substantial profits delivered by the Service in prior  
trading years. NYES Catering has been the service most impacted by Covid disruption 
with school attendance levels still lower than the pre-Covid average of 95%; 
demonstrating ongoing issues in the education market. The rise in food costs through 
the supply chains as well as the NJC pay agreement have added further cost pressures 
onto the service; exacerbated by the fixed meal pricing model that the schools 
subscribe to. Meal uptake in schools has not recovered in many areas to pre-Covid 
levels which has led to dis-economies of scale.        

 
4.6 The NYES Professional Services segment continues to deliver good returns, with some 

of the highest levels of customer retention and satisfaction. However, this area has 
been most affected by LGR resource requirements and growth is likely to be muted 
while the new authority is established. NYES Digital continue to experience challenging 
supply and trading conditions, prompting a workstream to secure efficiencies and 
improved product line costing. This workstream is due to complete work in Q4.  
 

4.7 NYNet 
 

NYnet has continued to experience a moderate growth in new sales, which are 

mainly targeted at the private sector. However, savings were achieved on the cost of 

sales due to Local Full Fibre Network (LFFN) site migrations and this continues to 

improve gross margins for the Company. 

 

4.8 First North Law 
 

First North Law continues to consolidate its position and turnover remains stable 

across the first 3 Quarters. Despite significant price increases to several areas of 

overhead, including Professional Indemnity Insurance, FNL is well placed to meet 

these additional pressures and is forecasting a profit for financial year 2022/23. 

 

4.9 Brierley Homes 
 

4.10 The current financial year sees the Company on track to fully complete the Woodfield 
Square and Millwright Park sites as well as part of the Yew Tree Farm development, 
generating a significant return for NYCC. In addition to this, work on the next stage of 
the development pipeline is underway with two further sites set to reach practical 
completion during 2023/24.  
 

4.11 Increased borrowing costs combined with other inflationary pressures have made site 
viability cases more challenging but the core strategy of utilising up to date and 
comprehensive market intelligence to ensure the Company matches appropriate 
developments to sites with regular sales turnover is working well.  
 

 
 

4.12 Align Property Partners 

 

4.13 APP continue to build client reputation, win new business and are on track to deliver 
another significant return into the Brierley Group this financial year. The limiting factor 
for APP has been recruitment and retention of key personnel. The appointment of Page 11



Appendix A 

 
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

several new members of staff has resulted from the customised SLA with NYCC 
Resourcing Solutions, aimed at assisting Align in the successful identification and 
recruitment of appropriately skilled personnel. 
 

4.14 Align continues to move into new and adjacent markets and has been successful in 
establishing framework and collaboration agreements with other local authorities and 
public bodies. Align continues to partner with NYH to aid its FY22/23 capital 
programme. 
 

 

4.15 Yorwaste 

 

4.16 Q3 performance is tracking ahead due to the increased revenues from power 
generation and commercial activity from disposal tonnages. This is expected to 
continue into the full-year trading results. Asset costs continue to be under control, 
however asset maintenance and replacement is challenging due to the limited supply of 
parts and new equipment from manufacturers. The Company continues to place orders 
for new equipment much earlier than previously, with deliveries on some key items now 
taking over a year, and where practical, holding stock of key replacement parts to 
minimise downtime. 
 

4.17 Veritau 

 

4.18 Veritau continues to attract new clients into its internal audit and information 
governance services, with client satisfaction and retention rates remaining strong. 
Increased revenue has been offset by an anticipated uplift to projected Direct Costs for 
the year; largely driven by staffing costs following finalisation of the NJC pay 
agreement.  

 
4.19 Recruitment and retention of appropriately qualified and experienced staff continues to 

be a concern, in terms of the ability to deliver services. The resourcing pressures are 
being felt across the sector and represent an ongoing concern for the Company. 
 

 

4.20 North Yorkshire Highways 
 

4.21 Q3 is tracking behind budget due to a reduction in external work undertaken in favour of 
focusing on capital programmes. Increased revenue levels driven by Capital & Tender 
work are being offset by inflationary pressures on overheads as well as increased 
borrowing costs.   
 

4.22 NYH is forecast to deliver a solid shareholder return through profitability and interest 
payable to NYCC on its borrowings. 

 

Page 12



 

 

OFFICIAL 

North Yorkshire County Council 
 

Shareholder Committee 
 

21 March 2023 
 

Border to Coast Governance Documents 
 

Report of the Corporate Director – Strategic Resources 
 

Appendices 1 & 2 to this report contain information of the type defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) as it contains information relating to the 
business affairs of Border to Coast Pensions Partnership Limited and it is considered that the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1. To describe the background of the Council’s part-ownership of Border to Coast Pensions 

Partnership Limited, a company created to manage the investments of the North Yorkshire 
Pension Fund. 
 

1.2. To recommend approval of the updated governance documents of Border to Coast Pensions 
Partnership Limited. 
 

1.3. To recommend who will be the shareholder representative from 1 April 2023. 
 

2. Background 
 
2.1. On 1 November 2016 the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and 

Investment of Funds) Regulation 2016 came into force.  These Regulations mandate that 
the 89 separate Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Funds in England and Wales 
combine their assets into a small number of investment pools. 
 

2.2. The associated guidance states that each LGPS administering authority must commit to a 
suitable pool to achieve benefits of scale.  The Secretary of State has direction and 
intervention powers if he is not satisfied that an administering authority is complying with its 
obligations in relation to the Regulations. 

 
2.3. North Yorkshire County Council (as the administering authority for the North Yorkshire 

Pension Fund) was actively involved in the development of an investment pooling 
arrangement, Border to Coast Pensions Partnership (BCPP).  Eleven other administering 
authorities were also involved. 

 
2.4. In December 2016 the Secretary of State approved BCPP as meeting the requirements of 

the 2016 Regulations and associated guidance. 
 

2.5. At its meeting on 15 February 2017 the Council decided to formally commit to be a member 
of BCPP, which at that time was in the process of being incorporated with the name Border 
to Coast Pensions Partnership Limited.  The proportional shareholding of each 
administering authority including this Council was to be 1/12th. 

 
2.6. To give effect to this decision, the Council: 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



 

 

OFFICIAL 

i. entered into an Inter-Authority Agreement between the Council and the other 
administering authorities, which describes the establishment of governance 
arrangements relating to the company 

ii. entered into a Shareholder Agreement between the Council, the other administering 
authorities and BCPP Ltd, which describes how shareholders exert control over the 
company 

iii. agreed the Articles of Association to be adopted by BCPP Ltd 

iv. approved the subscription of 1/12th of the shares in BCPP Ltd 

v. approved the establishment of suitable governance arrangements including the BCPP 
Joint Committee which assists administering authorities with oversight of BCPP 

vi. referred the nomination of the shareholder to the Executive 
 

2.7. The Council also appointed an individual to be the shareholder representative.  This is 
currently Councillor Patrick Mulligan who is a district councillor, Vice Chair of the Pension 
Fund Committee, and is the district councils’ representative on the Committee.  Due to 
Local Government Reorganisation a replacement shareholder representative will be 
required. 

 
2.8. Where decisions are required, the Council considers that recommendations should be 

brought to the Shareholder Committee in accordance with the Council’s constitution.  
 
3. 2022/23 Review of Governance Documents 

 
3.1. Five years on from the creation of BCPP Ltd a review of the shareholder governance 

documents was undertaken.  This was in recognition of the company moving from being a 
start-up company to one employing over 100 staff and managing over £40 billion of assets.  
Changes would be required to reflect a range of issues such as updates to Financial 
Conduct Authority (FCA) requirements and the merger of two of the BCPP administering 
authority pension funds, Tyne & Wear and Northumberland. 
 

3.2. The review also considered lessons learned from the first years of pooling with BCPP, 
arrangements at other pools in the UK and overseas, and arrangements at other local 
authority owned companies. 

 
3.3. The review process was broken down into four stages: 

 stage one identified a long list where changes might be needed, undertaken by a 
working group of senior administering authority pension fund and legal officers, and 
BCPP’s Chief Executive and compliance officer 

 stage two was a review of each of these areas, undertaken by a working group of 
senior administering authority pension fund, legal and finance officers, administering 
authority elected member representatives from the Joint Committee, and BCPP’s Chief 
Executive and compliance officer 

 stage three was a review of the proposed changes by Squire Patton Boggs acting for 
the administering authorities, and Eversheds acting for BCPP.  Both companies have 
extensive experience with local authority and investment management industry 
organisations 

 stage four is for each administering authority to take the updated governance 
documents through their governance processes 

 
3.4. The appointment of Squire Patton Boggs was made by South Tyneside Council as 

administering authority for the Tyne & Wear Pension Fund, on behalf of the eleven BCPP 
administering authorities.  Their role was to provide advice and ensure the changes were 

Page 14



 

 

OFFICIAL 

appropriate and in the best interests of the administering authorities as shareholders in 
BCPP. 
 

3.5. Stages one to three have been completed and stage four is underway.  Alongside this 
process, the Council’s Corporate Director – Strategic Resources and the Head of 
Investments have discussed the changes with BCPP and the other administering 
authorities and are comfortable with them. 

 
3.6. The updated Inter-Authority Agreement (Appendix 1), Shareholder Agreement (Appendix 

2) and Articles of Association (Appendix 3) are attached to this report.   
 

4. Shareholder Representative 
 

4.1. A change to the shareholder representative will be needed from 1 April 2023.  The 
recommendation is the Shareholder Committee delegate the Council’s Chief Executive 
Officer to nominate an appropriate shareholder representative.  
 

5. Financial, Legal and Other Implications 
 

5.1. The updates to the governance documents do not have any financial or legal implications 
beyond those attached to the decision in 2017 to formally join BCPP Ltd. 
 

6. Recommendations 
 

6.1. The Shareholder Committee are asked to approve:  

i. The updated Border to Coast Pensions Partnership Limited governance documents, 
being the Inter-Authority Agreement 

ii. The Shareholder Agreement and the Articles of Association, appended to this report  
 

6.2. The Shareholder Committee is also asked to delegate: 

iii. The Council entering into the two agreements to the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal 
and Democratic Services). 

iv. Nomination of an appropriate shareholder representative to the Council’s Chief 
Executive Officer 

 
 
Gary Fielding 
Corporate Director – Strategic Resources 
County Hall 
Northallerton 
8 March 2023 
 
Report Author: Tom Morrison 
Presenter of Report: Tom Morrison 
 
Appendices 
Appendix 1 – Inter-Authority Agreement (confidential) 
Appendix 2 – Shareholder Agreement (confidential) 
Appendix 3 – Articles of Association 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 17

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 45

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 
 

 Eversheds Sutherland 
(International) LLP 
One Wood Street 
London 
United Kingdom 
 
T: +44 20 7497 9797 
F: +44 20 7919 4919 
DX 13004 Birmingham 
 
eversheds-sutherland.com 

 

 

 

 

 OFFICIAL 

 

Company No.  10795539 

Articles of Association of Border to Coast Pensions Partnership Limited 

Incorporated 31 May 2017 
Adopted by written resolution passed on _____________ 2023 

 

Page 95



Appendix 3 

cloud_uk\203212750\4  

13 March 2023 JohnsoJV 
OFFICIAL 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 
1 INTERPRETATION .................................................................................................... 1 

2 LIABILITY OF MEMBERS ........................................................................................... 3 

3 DIRECTORS’ GENERAL AUTHORITY ............................................................................ 4 

4 SHAREHOLDERS’ RESERVE POWER ........................................................................... 4 

5 DIRECTORS MAY DELEGATE ..................................................................................... 4 

6 COMMITTEES .......................................................................................................... 4 

7 DIRECTORS TO TAKE DECISIONS COLLECTIVELY ........................................................ 4 

8 WRITTEN RESOLUTIONS OF DIRECTORS .................................................................... 4 

9 CALLING A DIRECTORS’ MEETING ............................................................................. 5 

10 PARTICIPATION IN DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS ................................................................ 5 

11 QUORUM FOR DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS ....................................................................... 5 

12 CHAIRING OF DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS ....................................................................... 6 

13 CASTING VOTE ....................................................................................................... 6 

14 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS .......................................................................................... 6 

15 RECORDS OF DECISIONS TO BE KEPT ....................................................................... 7 

16 DIRECTORS’ DISCRETION TO MAKE FURTHER RULES .................................................. 7 

17 MINIMUM AND MAXIMUM NUMBER OF DIRECTORS ..................................................... 7 

18 APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY ..................... 7 

19 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION ................................................................................... 8 

20 DIRECTORS’ EXPENSES ........................................................................................... 8 

21 DIRECTORS’ POWERS .............................................................................................. 8 

22 ALTERNATE DIRECTORS ........................................................................................... 9 

22.1 Appointment and removal of alternates ......................................................... 9 

22.2 Rights and responsibilities of alternate directors ............................................. 9 

22.3 Termination of alternate directorship .......................................................... 10 

23 ALTERNATE DIRECTORS’ EXPENSES ........................................................................ 10 

24 ALL SHARES TO BE FULLY PAID UP .......................................................................... 10 

25 POWER TO ISSUE DIFFERENT CLASSES OF SHARES .................................................. 10 

26 ISSUES OF SHARES AND PRE-EMPTION RIGHTS ....................................................... 10 

27 RIGHTS ATTACHING TO THE SHARES ...................................................................... 10 

28 PURCHASE OF OWN SHARES .................................................................................. 11 

29 COMPANY NOT BOUND BY LESS THAN ABSOLUTE INTERESTS .................................... 11 

30 SHARE CERTIFICATES ........................................................................................... 11 

31 REPLACEMENT SHARE CERTIFICATES ...................................................................... 12 

32 RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER ................................................................................ 12 

33 TRANSFERS NULL AND VOID .................................................................................. 12 

34 EXITING SHAREHOLDER ........................................................................................ 13 

35 DEEMED TRANSFERS TO THE COMPANY ................................................................... 13 

36 REGISTRATION OF TRANSFERS .............................................................................. 14 

37 PROCEDURE FOR DECLARING DIVIDENDS ............................................................... 14 

38 PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS AND OTHER DISTRIBUTIONS ............................................. 14 

39 NO INTEREST ON DISTRIBUTIONS .......................................................................... 15 

40 UNCLAIMED DISTRIBUTIONS .................................................................................. 15 

41 DISTRIBUTIONS ................................................................................................... 15 

42 WAIVER OF DISTRIBUTIONS .................................................................................. 16 

43 AUTHORITY TO CAPITALISE AND APPROPRIATION OF CAPITALISED SUMS ................... 16 

44 RETURN OF CAPITAL RIGHTS .................................................................................. 16 

Page 96



Appendix 3 

cloud_uk\203212750\4  

13 March 2023 JohnsoJV 
OFFICIAL 

45 NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETINGS ............................................................................. 17 

46 ATTENDANCE AND SPEAKING AT GENERAL MEETINGS .............................................. 17 

47 ATTENDANCE AND SPEAKING BY DIRECTORS AND NON-SHAREHOLDERS .................... 17 

48 QUORUM AT GENERAL MEETINGS ........................................................................... 18 

49 VOTING: GENERAL ................................................................................................ 18 

50 ERRORS AND DISPUTES ........................................................................................ 18 

51 CONTENT OF PROXY NOTICES ................................................................................ 18 

52 DELIVERY OF PROXY NOTICES ................................................................................ 19 

53 AMENDMENTS TO RESOLUTIONS ............................................................................ 19 

54 WRITTEN RESOLUTIONS ........................................................................................ 19 

55 NUMBER OF VOTES ............................................................................................... 19 

56 COMPLIANCE WITH THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES ORDER ............................................... 20 

57 COMPANY COMMUNICATION PROVISIONS................................................................ 20 

58 COMPANY SEALS ................................................................................................... 21 

59 PUBLIC ACCESS TO MINUTES OF MEETINGS AND RIGHTS TO INSPECT ACCOUNTS 
AND OTHER RECORDS ........................................................................................... 21 

60 DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE ............................................................... 21 

61 REGISTERED OFFICE ............................................................................................. 21 

62 LIMITED LIABILITY ................................................................................................ 21 

 

Page 97



 

 1 
OFFICIAL 

THE COMPANIES ACT 2006 

 
PRIVATE COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES 

 
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION  

 
OF 

 
BORDER TO COAST PENSIONS PARTNERSHIP LIMITED 

 
Adopted by written resolution passed on _____________ 2023 

 

1. INTERPRETATION 

1.1 In these Articles the following expressions have the following meanings unless inconsistent 
with the context: 

“2006 Act” the Companies Act 2006 (as amended from time to 
time) 

“A Shares” the ordinary shares of £1.00 each in the capital of the 

Company having the rights set out in these Articles in 
respect of Shares of that class 

“these Articles” these articles of association as amended from time to 
time 

“B Shares” the non-voting ordinary shares of £1.00 each in the 
capital of the Company having the rights set out in 
these Articles in respect of Shares of that class 

“bankruptcy” includes individual insolvency proceedings in a 

jurisdiction other than England and Wales or Northern 
Ireland which have an effect similar to that of 
bankruptcy 

“Business Day” any day (other than a Saturday or Sunday or a bank 
or public holiday in England) 

“CRR” the European Union Credit Requirements Regulation 

575/2013 and such law, regulation or other 
enactment which may replace it or give effect to it in 
the United Kingdom upon an exit of the United 
Kingdom from the European Union 

“chair of the meeting” the Directors’ Chair in their capacity as chair of 
general meetings of the Shareholders or any other 

person selected to chair general meetings of the 

Shareholders by a Shareholder Majority 

“Companies Acts” the Companies Acts (as defined in section 2 of the 
Companies Act 2006), in so far as they apply to the 
Company 

“director” a director of the Company, and includes any person 
occupying the position of director, by whatever name 

called 

“Directors’ Chair” the default chair of meetings of directors as chosen 
by the shareholders pursuant to Article 12  

Page 98



 

 2 
OFFICIAL 

“distribution recipient” has the meaning given in Article 38.2 

“document” includes, unless otherwise specified, any document 
sent or supplied in electronic form 

“electronic form” has the meaning given in section 1168 of the 
Companies Act 2006 but does not, for the avoidance 

of doubt, include communication via a website 

“eligible directors” has the meaning given in Article 8.3 

“Encumbrance” includes any interest or equity of any person 
(including, without prejudice to the generality of the 
foregoing, any right to acquire, option, right of pre- 
emption or right of conversion) or any mortgage, 
charge, pledge, lien or assignment or any other 

encumbrance, priority or security interest or 

arrangement of whatsoever nature over or in the 
relevant property 

“Fair Market Value” the fair market value of any Share agreed between 
the Board and any Shareholder or, in the event of any 
dispute, as determined by the auditors of the 

Company (or if they are unwilling to act, by an 
independent accountant nominated by the Board and 
the relevant Shareholder(s) (or, in default of which, 
by the President of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales)) 

“fully paid” in relation to a Share, means that the nominal value 
and any premium to be paid to the Company in 

respect of that Share have been paid to the Company 

“FCA” the Financial Conduct Authority and any successor 
body 

“FCA Rules” the Handbook of Rules and Guidance of the FCA, as 
amended, supplemented and replaced from time to 
time 

“hard copy form” has the meaning given in section 1168 of the 

Companies Act 2006 

“holder” in relation to Shares means the person whose name 
is entered in the register of members as the holder of 
the Shares 

“instrument” means a document in hard copy form 

“Local Authorities Order” means the Local Authorities (Companies) Order 1995 

“ordinary resolution” has the meaning given in section 282 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

“paid” paid or credited as paid 

“participate” in relation to a directors’ meeting, has the meaning 
given in Article 10.1 

“proxy notice” has the meaning given in Article 51.1 

Page 99



 

 3 
OFFICIAL 

“Shareholder” a person who is the holder of a Share 

“Shareholder Majority” has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ 
Agreement 

“Shareholders’ Agreement” means the shareholders’ agreement entered into by 
the Shareholders and the Company in respect of the 

Company (as may be amended from time to time) 

“Shares” A Shares and B Shares and any other shares in the 
capital of the Company from time to time 

“special resolution” has the meaning given in section 283 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

“the Statutes” the Companies Acts as defined in section 2 of the 
Companies Act 2006 and every other statute, order, 

regulation, instrument or other subordinate 
legislation for the time being in force relating to 
companies and affecting the Company 

“Strategic Plan” the annual business plan for the Company prepared 
and approved by the Shareholder, as varied from 
time to time 

“subsidiary” has the meaning given in section 1159 of the 
Companies Act 2006 

“Tier 1 Capital” Capital which complies with Article 28 of the CRR 

“United Kingdom” Great Britain and Northern Ireland 

“Withdrawal Date” in respect of a Shareholder, has the meaning given in 

Article 34.1 

“in writing” hard copy form or, to the extent agreed (or deemed 

to be agreed by virtue of a provision of the Statutes) 
electronic form (but not to include by means of a 
website) 

1.2 Unless the context otherwise requires, words or expressions contained in these Articles 
bear the same meaning as in the Companies Acts and every other statute, order, regulation 
or other subordinate legislation in force from time to time relating to companies and 
affecting the Company but excluding any statutory modification of the same not in force 

when these Articles become binding on the Company. 

1.3 References to any statute or statutory provision include, unless the context otherwise 
requires, a reference to that statute or statutory provision as modified, replaced, re- 
enacted or consolidated and in force from time to time and any subordinate legislation made 

under the relevant statute or statutory provision. 

2. LIABILITY OF MEMBERS 

The liability of the members is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on the Shares held by 
them. 

DIRECTORS’ POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

Page 100



 

 4 
OFFICIAL 

3. DIRECTORS’ GENERAL AUTHORITY 

Subject to these Articles, the directors are responsible for the management of the 
Company’s business and the implementing of the Strategic Plan, for which purpose they 
may exercise all the powers of the Company. 

4. SHAREHOLDERS’ RESERVE POWER 

4.1 The Shareholders may, by Shareholder Majority or unanimous consent, direct the directors 
to take, or refrain from taking, specified action and the directors shall not undertake any 
action requiring Shareholder approval as required by the Shareholders’ Agreement. 

4.2 No such resolution invalidates anything which the directors have done before the passing 
of the resolution. 

5. DIRECTORS MAY DELEGATE 

5.1 Subject to these Articles, the directors may delegate any of the powers which are conferred 

on them under these Articles: 

5.1.1 to such person or committee; 

5.1.2 by such means (including by power of attorney); 

5.1.3 to such an extent; 

5.1.4 in relation to such matters or territories; and 

5.1.5 on such terms and conditions, as they think fit. 

5.2 If the directors so specify, any such delegation may authorise further delegation of the 
directors’ powers by any person to whom they are delegated. 

5.3 The directors may revoke any delegation in whole or part, or alter its terms and conditions. 

5.4 Notwithstanding any provision in this Article 5, a director will remain responsible for any 
power which is delegated in accordance with this Article 5. 

6. COMMITTEES 

6.1 Committees to which the directors delegate any of their powers must follow procedures 

which are based as far as they are applicable on those provisions of these Articles which 
govern the taking of decisions by directors. 

6.2 The directors may make rules of procedure for all or any committees, which prevail over 
rules derived from these Articles if they are not consistent with them. 

7. DIRECTORS TO TAKE DECISIONS COLLECTIVELY 

The general rule about decision-making by directors is that any decision of the directors 
must be either a majority decision at a meeting or a decision taken in accordance with 

Article 8. 

8. WRITTEN RESOLUTIONS OF DIRECTORS 

8.1 A decision of the directors is taken in accordance with this Article 8 when a majority of the 
eligible directors indicate to each other by any means that they share a common view on a 
matter. 

Page 101



 

 5 
OFFICIAL 

8.2 Such a decision may take the form of a resolution in writing, where a majority of eligible 

directors has signed one or more copies of it, or to which a majority of eligible directors has 
otherwise indicated agreement in writing. 

8.3 References in this Article 8 to eligible directors are to directors who would have been 
entitled to vote on the matter had it been proposed as a resolution at a directors’ meeting. 

8.4 A decision may not be taken in accordance with this Article 8 if the eligible directors would 
not have formed a quorum at such a meeting. 

9. CALLING A DIRECTORS’ MEETING 

9.1 Any director may call a directors’ meeting by giving not less than five Business Days’ notice 
of the meeting (or such lesser notice as all the directors may agree) to the directors or by 
authorising the company secretary to give such notice. 

9.2 Notice of any directors’ meeting must indicate: 

9.2.1 its proposed date and time; 

9.2.2 where it is to take place; and 

9.2.3 if it is anticipated that directors participating in the meeting will not be in the 
same place, how it is proposed that they should simultaneously communicate 
with each other during the meeting. 

9.3 Notice of a directors’ meeting need not be given to directors who waive their entitlement 

to notice of that meeting, by giving notice to that effect to the Company not more than 7 
days after the date on which the meeting is held.  Where such notice is given after the 
meeting has been held, that does not affect the validity of the meeting, or of any business 
conducted at it. 

10. PARTICIPATION IN DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

10.1 Subject to these Articles, directors participate in a directors’ meeting, or part of a directors’ 
meeting, when: 

10.1.1 the meeting has been called and takes place in accordance with these Articles; 
and 

10.1.2 they can each simultaneously communicate with and to the others participating 
in the meeting any information or opinions they have on any particular item of 
the business of the meeting. 

10.2 In determining whether directors are participating in a directors’ meeting, it is irrelevant 
where any director is or, subject to Article 10.1.2, how they communicate with each other. 

10.3 If all the directors participating in a meeting are not in the same place, they may decide 
that the meeting is to be treated as taking place wherever any of them is. 

11. QUORUM FOR DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

11.1 At a directors’ meeting, unless a quorum is participating, no proposal is to be voted on, 
except a proposal to call another meeting. 

11.2 Subject to this Article 11, the quorum for directors’ meetings shall throughout each 

meeting be four directors, at least two of whom shall be non-executive directors. 

11.3 If the total number of directors for the time being is less than the quorum required, the 
directors must not take any decision other than a decision: 

11.3.1 to appoint further directors; or 

Page 102



 

 6 
OFFICIAL 

11.3.2 to call a general meeting so as to enable the Shareholders to appoint further 

directors. 

11.4 If there is no quorum participating in any meeting of the directors within 30 minutes after 
the time fixed for the meeting, the meeting shall be adjourned to such time (not being 
earlier than 5 Business Days after the date of the original meeting, unless otherwise agreed 

by all the directors) as the director or directors participating in the meeting shall determine, 
or, in the absence of any directors participating, to such time as the chair of the preceding 
directors’ meeting shall determine. All directors will be notified of the adjournment. If there 
is no quorum participating within one hour after the time fixed for the adjourned meeting, 
the meeting shall be further adjourned as aforesaid.  If there is no quorum participating 
within one hour after the time fixed for the further adjourned meeting any two directors 
participating shall constitute a quorum (one of whom shall be a non-executive director). 

11.5 If, as a consequence of section 175(6) of the 2006 Act, a director cannot vote or be counted 
in the quorum at a directors’ meeting then the following shall apply: 

11.5.1 if the eligible directors participating in the meeting do not constitute a quorum 
then the quorum for the purposes of the meeting shall be reduced by one for 
each director who cannot vote or be counted in the quorum; and 

11.5.2 if despite Article 11.5.1 the eligible directors participating in the meeting still 

do not constitute a quorum or there are no eligible directors then the meeting 
must be adjourned to enable the Shareholders to authorise any situation in 
which a director has a direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or possibly may 
conflict, with the interests of the Company. 

12. CHAIRING OF DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

12.1 The Shareholders shall appoint a Directors’ Chair, who shall be a non-executive director, to 
chair their meetings.  The directors may terminate the Directors’ Chair’s appointment at 

any time. 

12.2 If the Directors’ Chair is not participating in a directors’ meeting within 30 minutes of the 
time at which it was to start, the participating directors must appoint one of the non- 
executive directors to chair it. 

13. CASTING VOTE 

If the numbers of votes for and against a proposal are equal at a meeting of the directors, 
the Directors’ Chair or other director chairing the meeting shall have a casting vote. 

14. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS 

14.1 Subject to these Articles, the 2006 Act and any requirements of the FCA, and provided that 
he has disclosed to the other directors the nature and extent of any interest of his, a 
director: 

14.1.1 may hold any other office or employment with the Company (other than the 

office of auditor); and 

14.1.2 may, or any firm or company of which he is a member or director may, act in a 
professional capacity for the Company or any body corporate in which the 
Company is in any way interested (other than as auditor). 

14.2 The Shareholders (by a Shareholder Majority) may authorise any conflict of interest which 
an interested director may have.  Except for a vote under section 175(4) of the 2006 Act 
authorising any conflict of interest which a director or any other interested director may 
have, or where the terms of authorisation of such conflict provide that a director may not 

vote in situations prescribed by the directors when granting such authorisation, and subject 
in each case to any restrictions imposed by the FCA with respect thereto, a director will be 
entitled to participate in the decision making process for voting and quorum purposes on 

Page 103



 

 7 
OFFICIAL 

any of the matters referred to in 14.1.1 to 14.1.2 and in any of the circumstances set out 

in Article 14.3. 

14.3 The circumstances referred to in Article 14.2 are: 

14.3.1 the Company by special resolution disapplies any provision of these Articles 
which would otherwise prevent a director from being counted as participating in 

the decision-making process; or 

14.3.2 the director’s interest cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a 
conflict of interest. 

14.4 For the purposes of these Articles references to decision making processes include any 
directors’ meeting or part of a directors’ meeting. 

14.5 For the purposes of Article 14.1: 

14.5.1 a general notice given in accordance with the 2006 Act is to be treated as a 

sufficient declaration of interest; 

14.5.2 a director is not required to declare an interest either where he is not aware of 
such interest or is not aware of the transaction or arrangement in question; and 

14.5.3 an interest of a director who appoints an alternate director shall be treated as 
an interest of the alternate director. 

14.6 Subject to Article 14.7, if a question arises at a meeting of directors or of a committee of 

directors as to the right of a director to participate in the meeting (or part of the meeting) 
for voting or quorum purposes, the question may, before the conclusion of the meeting, be 
referred to the Directors’ Chair or other director chairing the meeting whose ruling in 
relation to any director other than the Directors’ Chair or other director chairing the meeting 
is to be final and conclusive. 

14.7 If any question as to the right to participate in the meeting (or part of the meeting) should 
arise in respect of the Directors’ Chair or other director chairing the meeting, the question 

is to be decided by a decision of the directors at that meeting, for which purpose the 
Directors’ Chair or other director chairing the meeting is not to be counted as participating 
in the meeting (or that part of the meeting) for voting or quorum purposes. 

15. RECORDS OF DECISIONS TO BE KEPT 

The directors must ensure that the Company keeps a record, in writing, for at least 10 years 
from the date of the decision recorded, of every unanimous or majority decision taken by 
the directors. 

16. DIRECTORS’ DISCRETION TO MAKE FURTHER RULES 

Subject to these Articles, the directors may make any rule which they think fit about how 
they take decisions, and about how such rules are to be recorded or communicated to 

directors. 

17. MINIMUM AND MAXIMUM NUMBER OF DIRECTORS 

The number of directors shall not be less than four (at least half of which must be non- 

executive directors) and shall not exceed 10. 

18. APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY 

18.1 Any person who is willing to act as a director, and is permitted by law to do so and has 
obtained the necessary approval from the FCA to act as such, may be appointed a director 
by a decision of the Shareholders in accordance with the Shareholders’ Agreement. 

Page 104



 

 8 
OFFICIAL 

18.2 A person ceases to be a director as soon as: 

18.2.1 that person ceases to be a director by virtue of any provision of the Companies 
Act 2006 or is prohibited from being a director by law; 

18.2.2 a bankruptcy order is made against that person; 

18.2.3 a composition is made with that person’s creditors generally in satisfaction of 

that person’s debts; 

18.2.4 a registered medical practitioner who is treating that person gives a written 
opinion to the Company stating that that person has become physically or 
mentally incapable of acting as a director and may remain so for more than three 
months; 

18.2.5 notification is received by the Company from the director that the director is 
resigning from office, and such resignation has taken effect in accordance with 

its terms; or 

18.2.6 receipt by the Company of a written notice signed by 75% or more of the 
Shareholders of Class A voting rights removing a director from office save for an 
Interim Director (as defined in the Shareholders’ Agreement) who may be 
removed on receipt by the Company of a written notice signed by 100% of the 
Shareholders of Class A voting rights. 

18.3 The directors shall appoint a company secretary of the Company. 

19. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 

19.1 Subject to these Articles, a director’s remuneration may: 

19.1.1 take any form, and 

19.1.2 include any arrangements in connection with the payment of a pension, 
allowance or gratuity, or any death, sickness or disability benefits, to or in 
respect of that director. 

19.2 Unless Shareholders (acting with a Shareholder Majority) decide otherwise, directors’ 
remuneration accrues from day to day. 

19.3 Unless Shareholders (acting with a Shareholder Majority) decide otherwise, directors are 
not accountable to the Company for any remuneration which they receive as directors or 
other officers or employees of the Company’s subsidiaries or of any other body corporate 
in which the Company is interested. 

20. DIRECTORS’ EXPENSES 

The Company may pay any reasonable expenses which the directors properly incur in 
connection with the exercise of their powers and the discharge of their responsibilities in 

relation to the Company in accordance with any expenses policy of the Company as is 
approved by the directors from time to time. 

21. DIRECTORS’ POWERS 

The directors may procure that the Company borrow and raise money by way of borrowings 

on behalf of the Company but shall only do so if: 

21.1 such borrowing shall not allow any prospective lender a right to participate in the share 
capital of the Company as a condition of any such borrowing or to take any Encumbrance 
over any of the Shares; and 

Page 105



 

 9 
OFFICIAL 

21.2 they have obtained prior written consent of the Shareholders if the aggregate amount of 

any such borrowings shall exceed £5,000,000. 

22. ALTERNATE DIRECTORS 

22.1 Appointment and removal of alternates 

22.1.1 Any director may appoint as an alternate any other director of the Company or 

any director may, with prior approval of 75% or more of the Shareholder, 
appoint as an alternate any person willing to be so appointed (each director 
being an “appointor”) to: 

22.1.1.1 exercise that director’s powers; and 

22.1.1.2 carry out that director’s responsibilities, 

in relation to participation in directors’ meetings and the taking of decisions by 

the directors in the absence of the alternate’s appointor. 

22.1.2 Any appointment or removal of an alternate must be effected by notice in writing 
to the Company signed by the appointor, or in any other manner approved by 
the directors. 

22.1.3 The notice must: 

22.1.3.1 identify the proposed alternate; and 

22.1.3.2 in the case of a notice of appointment, contain a statement signed 

by the proposed alternate that the proposed alternate is willing to 
act as the alternate of the director giving the notice. 

22.2 Rights and responsibilities of alternate directors 

22.2.1 An alternate director has the same rights, in relation to participation in directors’ 
meetings and the taking of decisions by the directors and in relation to directors’ 
written resolutions, as the alternate’s appointor. 

22.2.2 An alternate director may act as an alternate director for more than one 

appointor. 

22.2.3 Except as these Articles specify otherwise, alternate directors: 

22.2.3.1 are liable for their own acts and omissions; 

22.2.3.2 are subject to the same restrictions as their appointors; and 

22.2.3.3 are not deemed to be agents of or for their appointors. 

and, each alternate director shall be entitled to receive notice of all meetings of 
directors and of all meetings of committees of directors of which his appointor is 

a member. 

22.2.4 A director who is also an alternate director is entitled, in the absence of his 
appointor, to a separate vote on behalf of his appointor, in addition to his own 
vote on any decision of the directors (provided that his appointor is an eligible 
director in relation to that decision), but shall not count as more than one 
director for the purposes of determining whether a quorum is present. 

22.2.5 An alternate director is not entitled to receive any remuneration from the 
Company for serving as an alternate director except such part of the alternate’s 
appointor’s remuneration as the appointor may direct by notice in writing made 
to the Company. 

Page 106



 

 10 
OFFICIAL 

22.3 Termination of alternate directorship 

22.3.1 An alternate director’s appointment as alternate terminates: 

22.3.1.1 when the alternate’s appointor revokes the appointment by notice 
to the Company in writing specifying when it is to terminate; 

22.3.1.2 on the occurrence in relation to the alternate of any event which, 

if it occurred in relation to the alternate’s appointor, would result 
in the termination of the appointor’s appointment as a director; 

22.3.1.3 on the death of the alternate’s appointor; or 

22.3.1.4 when the alternate’s appointor’s appointment as a director 
terminates. 

23. ALTERNATE DIRECTORS’ EXPENSES 

Article 20 shall apply in relation to alternate directors. 

SHARES AND DISTRIBUTIONS 

24. ALL SHARES TO BE FULLY PAID UP 

No Share is to be issued for less than the aggregate of its nominal value and any premium 
to be paid to the Company in consideration for its issue. 

25. POWER TO ISSUE DIFFERENT CLASSES OF SHARES 

25.1 Subject to these Articles, but without prejudice to the rights attached to any existing Share, 

the Company may issue Shares with such rights or restrictions as may be determined by 
the prior approval of all of the Shareholders. 

25.2 Subject to these Articles, but without prejudice to the rights attached to any existing Share, 
the Company may issue Shares which are to be redeemed, or are liable to be redeemed at 
the option of the Company and the directors may determine the terms, conditions and 
manner of redemption of any such Shares. 

26. ISSUES OF SHARES AND PRE-EMPTION RIGHTS 

Subject to the prior unanimous approval of the Shareholders, for the purposes of section 
551 of the 2006 Act, the directors are generally and unconditionally authorised to allot B 
Shares in the Company or to grant rights to subscribe for, or to convert any security into, 
B Shares up to a maximum nominal value of £10,000,000, provided that this authority shall 
expire five (5) years after the adoption of these Articles, unless previously renewed, 
revoked or varied except that the Company may, before such expiry, make an offer or 
agreement which will or may require the allotment of Shares or the grant of rights to 

subscribe for, or convert any security into, shares in the Company, after such expiry. 

27. RIGHTS ATTACHING TO THE SHARES 

27.1 Save as otherwise provided in these Articles, the A Shares and the B Shares shall be treated 
as if they constituted one class of Share. 

27.2 The B Shares shall not entitle any holder thereof to receive notice of, or to attend or vote 
at, general meetings of the Company. 

27.3 Subject to the provisions of the Statutes, the B Shares held by any Shareholder may, at 
the discretion of the Board, be purchased by the Company on the Withdrawal Date with 
respect to that Shareholder at par value, provided that the FCA has granted permission 
pursuant to Article 77 of the CRR. 

Page 107



 

 11 
OFFICIAL 

27.4 Subject to the provisions of the Statutes, the Company may, at the discretion of the Board 

and provided that the FCA has granted permission pursuant to Article 77 of the CRR, with 
the prior written consent of all of the holders of the A Shares purchase all or some of the B 
Shares in advance of the Withdrawal Date with respect to the relevant Shareholder. 

27.5 Subject to Article 27.3, within 3 months of the relevant Withdrawal Date the Company 

shall, subject to the Statutes, pay to each Shareholder whose B Shares are to be purchased 
by the Company an amount equal to the par value of the B Shares to be purchased and 
upon receipt of that amount each such Shareholder shall surrender to the Company the 
certificate(s) for the B Shares so purchased.  If any certificate surrendered is for more B 
Shares than are to be purchased at that time the Company shall issue to the holder free of 
charge a new certificate for the balance of the Shares not purchased by the Company. 

27.6 Subject to Article 27.3, where the Company is precluded by the Statutes or otherwise by 

law from purchasing any B Shares on the relevant Withdrawal Date, then: 

27.6.1 the Company shall purchase, on that date, as many of the B Shares which can 

then, consistently with the Statutes, be purchased by the Company; and 

27.6.2 as soon as the Company is no longer precluded from doing so, the Company 
shall in respect of the B Shares not purchased, purchase the maximum number 
of B Shares which can, consistently with the Statutes, properly be purchased by 

the Company at that time. 

27.7 The special rights conferred by the B Shares shall be deemed not to be modified or 
abrogated by the creation or issue of further Shares ranking pari passu or in priority to or 
subordinate to the B Shares. 

28. PURCHASE OF OWN SHARES 

28.1 Following any purchase by the Company of its own Shares in accordance with the provisions 
of the 2006 Act, and/or in accordance with the requirements of these Articles, all the 

purchased Shares shall be immediately cancelled. 

28.2 Subject to the 2006 Act, but without prejudice to any other provision of these Articles, the 
Company may purchase or redeem its own Shares in accordance with Chapter 4 of Part 18 
of the Act, including (without limitation) out of capital up to any amount in a financial year 
not exceeding the lower of: 

28.2.1 £15,000; and 

28.2.2 the nominal value of 5% of the Company’s fully paid share capital at the 

beginning of each financial year of the Company. 

29. COMPANY NOT BOUND BY LESS THAN ABSOLUTE INTERESTS 

Except as required by law, no person is to be recognised by the Company as holding any 
Share upon any trust, and except as otherwise required by law or these Articles, the 
Company is not in any way to be bound by or recognise any interest in a Share other than 

the holder’s absolute ownership of it and all the rights attaching to it. 

30. SHARE CERTIFICATES 

30.1 The Company must issue each Shareholder, free of charge, with one or more certificates in 
respect of the Shares which that Shareholder holds. 

30.2 Every certificate must specify: 

30.2.1 in respect of how many Shares, of what class, it is issued; 

30.2.2 the nominal value of those Shares; 

Page 108



 

 12 
OFFICIAL 

30.2.3 that the Shares are fully paid; and 

30.2.4 any distinguishing numbers assigned to them. 

30.3 No certificate may be issued in respect of Shares of more than one class. 

30.4 If more than one person holds a Share, only one certificate may be issued in respect of it. 

30.5 Certificates must: 

30.5.1 have affixed to them the Company’s common seal, or 

30.5.2 be otherwise executed in accordance with the Companies Acts. 

31. REPLACEMENT SHARE CERTIFICATES 

31.1 If a certificate issued in respect of a Shareholder’s Shares is: 

31.1.1 damaged or defaced, or 

31.1.2 said to be lost, stolen or destroyed, 

that Shareholder is entitled to be issued with a replacement certificate in respect of the 

same Shares. 

31.2 A Shareholder exercising the right to be issued with such a replacement certificate: 

31.2.1 may at the same time exercise the right to be issued with a single certificate or 
separate certificates; 

31.2.2 must return the certificate which is to be replaced to the Company if it is 
damaged or defaced; and 

31.2.3 must comply with such conditions as to evidence, indemnity and the payment of 
a reasonable fee as the directors decide. 

32. RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER 

In these Articles, references to a transfer of a Share include the transfer or assignment of 
a beneficial or other interest in that Share or the creation of a trust or encumbrance over 
that Share and reference to a Share includes a beneficial or other interest in a Share. 

33. TRANSFERS  

33.1 Except for a purchase by the Company of its own Shares or any transfer in accordance with 
the Shareholders’ Agreement or these Articles (including for the avoidance of doubt Article 
33.2), in each case in accordance with the provisions of the 2006 Act and these Articles 
and provided that the FCA has granted any required permission pursuant to Article 77 of 

the CRR, any transfer or purported transfer of a Share shall be null and void and of no 
effect. 

33.2 If any Shareholder is replaced as the administering authority of a local government pension 

scheme of which it is the administering authority, and its entire holding of Shares in the 
Company does not transfer automatically to any replacement administering authority by 
operation of law or court order or otherwise, such Shareholder may with the consent of the 
Board and the unanimous approval of Shareholders, transfer all (but not part only) of its 
holding of Shares to such replacement administering authority. 

Page 109



 

 13 
OFFICIAL 

34. EXITING SHAREHOLDER 

34.1 Save in the case of a transfer made in accordance with Article 33.2, in the event that a 
Shareholder wishes to cease to be a Shareholder in the Company, a Shareholder shall be 
required to serve a written notice on the Board of the Company at least 12 months prior to 
the proposed exit date, which must be 31 March in any year unless such other date is 

approved by the Board and all of the other Shareholders (the “Withdrawal Date”). 

34.2 Save in the case of a transfer made in accordance with Article 33.2, in the event of a 
Shareholder ceasing to be a Shareholder (an “Exiting Shareholder”), the Exiting 
Shareholder shall pay to the Company, in addition to any monies owing by the Exiting 
Shareholder to the Company as at the Withdrawal Date, such sum as represents the 
contribution to the capitalised value of that proportion of the continuing and outstanding 
liabilities of the Company have been incurred before the Withdrawal Date and which is 

properly attributable to the Exiting Shareholder’s share membership of the Company in 
accordance with clause 15 of the Shareholders’ Agreement. 

34.3 Thereafter (save where (i) any defaulting Shareholder is required to cease being a 
Shareholder pursuant to the terms of any shareholders agreement in which event those 
default provisions shall apply; or (ii) a Shareholder transfers its Shares in accordance with 
Article 33.2), on the Withdrawal Date: 

34.3.1 A Shares: the A Shares held by the Exiting Shareholder shall be either (as 
agreed by the Exiting Shareholder and the Company): 

34.3.1.1 (in the Board’s absolute discretion and subject to first having 
obtained the FCA’s permission pursuant to Article 77 of the CRR) 
purchased by the Company at Fair Market Value in accordance 
with and subject always to Part 18 of the 2006 Act; or 

34.3.1.2 transferred to a new Shareholder at Fair Market Value. 

For the avoidance of doubt, if the Company is unable to purchase the A Shares 

(as a result of insufficient distributable reserves and/or any other legal restriction 
in Part 18 of the 2006 Act) then the Company shall not be under any obligation 
to purchase any such A Shares until such later time as the Board determines 
that the Company is in a position to complete the proposed share buyback. 

34.3.2 B Shares: the rights attached to B Shares in the event of an Exiting Shareholder 
are set out in Article 27 above. The proceeds of such sale or transfer shall be 

paid to the Exiting Shareholder within 3 months of the Withdrawal Date (subject 
to the Company having sufficient reserves to do so and if it does not, at such 
date when it next has sufficient distributable reserves).   

35. DEEMED TRANSFERS TO THE COMPANY 

35.1 If a Shareholder, or other person entitled to transfer a Share (otherwise than in accordance 
with these Articles or the Shareholders’ Agreement), at any time attempts to transfer, deal 

with or dispose of a Share or any legal or beneficial interest in such Share otherwise than 

in accordance with Article 27 (Rights attaching to Shares), Article 33.2 (Transfers) or 
Article 34 (Exiting Shareholder), or if any of the events specified in Article 35.3 or Article 
35.4 occurs in respect of a Shareholder, the provisions of Article 35.2 shall apply. 

35.2 Where Article 35.1 applies to any Shareholder, such Shareholder shall be deemed to have 
given a transfer notice on the occurrence of such attempt or event in favour of the Company 
and to have specified in such transfer notice as the price per Share, the par value of each 

Share and the Company shall implement such transfer by way of purchase or redemption 
of such Shares in accordance with the 2006 Act. 

35.3 Article 35.2 shall apply on the occurrence of any of the following events: 

Page 110



 

 14 
OFFICIAL 

35.3.1 any direction (by way of renunciation, nomination or otherwise) by a 

Shareholder entitled to an allotment or transfer of Shares to the effect that such 
Shares or any of them be allotted or issued or transferred to some person other 
than himself; or 

35.3.2 any sale, dealing with or other disposition of any beneficial interest in a Share 

(whether or not for consideration or otherwise) by whomsoever made and 
whether or not effected by an instrument in writing except where the disposition 
is by service of a transfer notice in accordance with these Articles. 

35.4 For the purpose of ensuring that no circumstances have arisen whereby a transfer notice is 
deemed to be given or is required to be served, the directors may from time to time require 
any Shareholder or past shareholder to furnish to them such information and evidence as 
the directors may reasonably think fit regarding any matter which they consider relevant 

to establish whether any circumstances have arisen whereby a transfer notice is required 
to be served.  Failing such information being furnished to the reasonable satisfaction of the 
directors within a reasonable time after it has been requested, or if in the reasonable opinion 

of the directors any such information or evidence is false in any material respect, the 
directors may declare by notice in writing to the relevant Shareholder that a transfer notice 
shall be deemed to have been given in respect of any relevant Shares and Article 35.2 shall 

apply in respect of any Shares held by such Shareholder. 

35.5 For the purpose of Articles 35.1 to 35.4 inclusive, the word “Shareholder” includes any 
former shareholder. 

36. REGISTRATION OF TRANSFERS 

The Directors may refuse to register any transfer of a Share in accordance with clause 15.5 
of the Shareholders’ Agreement. 

DIVIDENDS AND OTHER DISTRIBUTIONS 

37. PROCEDURE FOR DECLARING DIVIDENDS 

37.1 The Company may declare dividends and interim dividends in accordance with the 
Shareholders’ Agreement. 

37.2 A dividend must not be declared unless the directors have made a recommendation as to 
its amount.  Such a dividend must not exceed the amount recommended by the directors. 

37.3 No dividend may be declared or paid unless it is in accordance with Shareholders’ respective 
rights. 

37.4 Unless the Shareholders’ resolution to declare or director’s decision to pay a dividend, or 
the terms on which Shares are issued, specify otherwise, it must be paid by reference to 
each Shareholders’ holding of Shares on the date of the resolution or decision to declare or 
pay it. 

38. PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS AND OTHER DISTRIBUTIONS 

38.1 Where a dividend or other sum which is a distribution is payable in respect of a Share, it 

must be paid by one or more of the following means: 

38.1.1 transfer to a bank or building society account specified by the distribution 
recipient either in writing or as the directors may otherwise decide; 

38.1.2 sending a cheque made payable to the distribution recipient by post to the 
distribution recipient at the distribution recipient’s registered address; 

38.1.3 sending a cheque made payable to such person by post to such person at such 
address as the distribution recipient has specified either in writing or as the 

directors may otherwise decide; or 

Page 111



 

 15 
OFFICIAL 

38.1.4 any other means of payment as the directors agree with the distribution recipient 

either in writing or by such other means as the directors decide. 

38.2 In these Articles, “the distribution recipient” means, in respect of a Share in respect of 
which a dividend or other sum is payable: 

38.2.1 the holder of the Share; or 

38.2.2 if the Share has two or more joint holders, whichever of them is named first in 
the register of members. 

39. NO INTEREST ON DISTRIBUTIONS 

39.1 The Company may not pay interest on any dividend or other sum payable in respect of a 
Share unless otherwise provided by: 

39.1.1 the terms on which the Share was issued, or 

39.1.2 the provisions of another agreement between the holder of that Share and the 

Company. 

40. UNCLAIMED DISTRIBUTIONS 

40.1 All dividends or other sums which are: 

40.1.1 payable in respect of Shares, and 

40.1.2 unclaimed after having been declared or become payable, 

may be invested or otherwise made use of by the directors for the benefit of the Company 

until claimed. 

40.2 The payment of any such dividend or other sum into a separate account does not make the 

Company a trustee in respect of it. 

40.3 If: 

40.3.1 twelve years have passed from the date on which a dividend or other sum 
became due for payment, and 

40.3.2 the distribution recipient has not claimed it, 

the distribution recipient is no longer entitled to that dividend or other sum and it ceases 
to remain owing by the Company. 

41. DISTRIBUTIONS 

41.1 Subject to the terms of issue of the Share in question, the Company may, subject to the 

terms of the Shareholders’ Agreement, on the recommendation of the directors, decide to 
pay all or part of a dividend or other distribution payable in respect of a Share  by 
transferring non-cash assets of equivalent value (including, without limitation, Shares or 

other securities in any company). 

41.2 For the purposes of paying a non-cash distribution, the directors may make whatever 
arrangements they think fit, including, where any difficulty arises regarding the distribution: 

41.2.1 fixing the value of any assets; 

41.2.2 paying cash to any distribution recipient on the basis of that value in order to 
adjust the rights of recipients; and 

Page 112



 

 16 
OFFICIAL 

41.2.3 vesting any assets in trustees. 

42. WAIVER OF DISTRIBUTIONS 

42.1 Distribution recipients may waive their entitlement to a dividend or other distribution 
payable in respect of a Share by giving the Company notice in writing to that effect, but if: 

42.1.1 the Share has more than one holder, or 

42.1.2 more than one person is entitled to the Share, 

the notice is not effective unless it is expressed to be given, and signed, by all the holders 
or persons otherwise entitled to the Share. 

CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS 

43. AUTHORITY TO CAPITALISE AND APPROPRIATION OF CAPITALISED SUMS 

43.1 Subject to these Articles, the directors may, subject to the terms of the Shareholders’ 
Agreement: 

43.1.1 decide to capitalise any profits of the Company (whether or not they are 
available for distribution) or any sum standing to the credit of the Company’s 
share premium account or capital redemption reserve; and 

43.1.2 appropriate any sum which they so decide to capitalise (a “capitalised sum”) to 
the persons who would have been entitled to it if it were distributed by way of 
dividend (the “persons entitled”) and in the same proportions. 

43.2 Capitalised sums must be applied: 

43.2.1 on behalf of the persons entitled; and 

43.2.2 in the same proportions as a dividend would have been distributed to them. 

43.3 Any capitalised sum may be applied in paying up new Shares of a nominal amount equal to 
the capitalised sum which are then allotted credited as fully paid to the persons entitled or 
as they may direct. 

43.4 A capitalised sum which was appropriated from profits available for distribution may be 

applied in paying up new debentures of the Company which are then allotted credited as 
fully paid to the persons entitled or as they may direct. 

43.5 Subject to these Articles the directors may: 

43.5.1 apply capitalised sums in accordance with Articles 43.3 and 43.4 partly in one 
way and partly in another; 

43.5.2 make such arrangements as they think fit to deal with Shares or debentures 
becoming distributable in fractions under this Article 43 (including the issuing 

of fractional certificates or the making of cash payments); and 

43.5.3 authorise any person to enter into an agreement with the Company on behalf of 
all the persons entitled which is binding on them in respect of the allotment of 
Shares and debentures to them under this Article 43. 

44. RETURN OF CAPITAL RIGHTS 

The rights as regards return of capital attaching to each class of Shares shall be as set out 

in this Article 44.  On a return of capital on liquidation or otherwise (except on a 
redemption or purchase by the Company of any Shares), the surplus assets of the Company 

Page 113



 

 17 
OFFICIAL 

remaining after the payment of its liabilities (including for the avoidance of doubt any debts 

arising from non-payment of cumulative dividends) shall be applied in the following order 
of priority: 

44.1 first, in paying to each holder of A Shares and B Shares in respect of each A Share and B 
Share of which it is the holder, a sum equal to the par value thereof; and 

44.2 the balance of such assets (if any) shall be distributed amongst the holders of the A Shares 
and the B Shares pro rata to the amount paid up or credited as paid up on each such A 
Share and B Share. 

ORGANISATION OF GENERAL MEETINGS 

45. NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETINGS 

Every notice convening a general meeting shall: 

45.1 include an agenda of the meeting; 

45.2 comply with section 325(1) of the 2006 Act as to giving information to Shareholders relating 
to their right to appoint proxies; and 

45.3 be given in accordance with section 308 of the 2006 Act but shall not be given by means 
of a website. 

46. ATTENDANCE AND SPEAKING AT GENERAL MEETINGS 

46.1 A person is able to exercise the right to speak at a general meeting when that person is in 

a position to communicate to all those attending the meeting, during the meeting, any 
information or opinions which that person has on the business of the meeting. 

46.2 A person is able to exercise the right to vote at a general meeting when: 

46.2.1 that person (being an authorised representative of a Shareholders or a proxy of 
the Shareholders) is able to vote, during the meeting, on resolutions put to the 
vote at the meeting, and 

46.2.2 that person’s vote can be taken into account in determining whether or not such 

resolutions are passed at the same time as the votes of all the other persons 
attending the meeting. 

46.3 The directors may make whatever arrangements they consider appropriate to enable those 
attending a general meeting to exercise their rights to speak or vote at it. 

46.4 In determining attendance at a general meeting, it is immaterial whether any two or more 
members attending it are in the same place as each other. 

46.5 Two or more persons who are not in the same place as each other attend a general meeting 

if their circumstances are such that if they have (or were to have) rights to speak and vote 

at that meeting, they are (or would be) able to exercise them. 

47. ATTENDANCE AND SPEAKING BY DIRECTORS AND NON-SHAREHOLDERS 

47.1 Directors may attend and speak at general meetings, whether or not they are Shareholders. 

47.2 The chair of the meeting may permit other persons who are not: 

47.2.1 Shareholders of the Company; or 

47.2.2 otherwise entitled to exercise the rights of Shareholders in relation to general 
meetings, 

Page 114



 

 18 
OFFICIAL 

to attend and speak at a general meeting. 

48. QUORUM AT GENERAL MEETINGS 

48.1 No resolution shall be voted on and no other business shall be transacted at any general 
meeting of the Company unless a quorum is present when such vote is taken or other 
business is transacted and no resolution or transaction shall be effective unless a quorum 

is so present. 

48.2 A quorum shall consist of the holders of 66.6% or more of the A Shares from time to time 
of the Company for the time being present by proxy or by representative. 

48.3 If a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time appointed for a general meeting 
or if, during any general meeting, a quorum ceases to be present, the general meeting shall 
stand adjourned until such other day and at such other place as the chair of the meeting 
may determine (or, if the chair does not so determine any outstanding business to be 

discussed at the meeting shall be adjourned to the next general meeting) and if at the 

adjourned general meeting a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time 
appointed for the same such adjourned general meeting, the general meeting shall be 
dissolved. 

VOTES OF SHAREHOLDERS 

49. VOTING: GENERAL 

A resolution put to the vote of a general meeting must be decided on a show of hands (or 
equivalent open voting methodology).  No resolution shall be decided on a poll. 

50. ERRORS AND DISPUTES 

50.1 No objection may be raised to the qualification of any person voting at a general meeting 
except at the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is tendered, and 
every vote not disallowed at the meeting is valid. 

50.2 Any such objection must be referred to the chair of the meeting, whose decision is final. 

51. CONTENT OF PROXY NOTICES 

51.1 Proxies may only validly be appointed by a notice in writing (a “proxy notice”) which: 

51.1.1 states the name and address of the Shareholder appointing the proxy; 

51.1.2 identifies the person appointed to be that Shareholder’s proxy and the general 
meeting in relation to which that person is appointed; 

51.1.3 is signed by or on behalf of the Shareholder appointing the proxy, or is 
authenticated in such manner as the directors may determine; and 

51.1.4 is delivered to the Company in accordance with these Articles and any 

instructions contained in the notice of the general meeting to which they relate. 

51.2 The Company may require proxy notices to be delivered in a particular form, and may 
specify different forms for different purposes. 

51.3 Proxy notices may specify how the proxy appointed under them is to vote (or that the proxy 
is to abstain from voting) on one or more resolutions. 

51.4 Unless a proxy notice indicates otherwise, it must be treated as: 

51.4.1 allowing the person appointed under it as a proxy discretion as to how to vote 
on any ancillary or procedural resolutions put to the meeting, and 

Page 115



 

 19 
OFFICIAL 

51.4.2 appointing that person as a proxy in relation to any adjournment of the general 

meeting to which it relates as well as the meeting itself. 

52. DELIVERY OF PROXY NOTICES 

52.1 A person who is entitled to attend, speak or vote at a general meeting remains so entitled 
in respect of that meeting or any adjournment of it, even though a valid proxy notice has 

been delivered to the Company by or on behalf of that person. 

52.2 An appointment under a proxy notice may be revoked by delivering to the Company a notice 
in writing given by or on behalf of the person by whom or on whose behalf the proxy notice 
was given. 

52.3 A notice revoking a proxy appointment only takes effect if it is delivered before the start of 
the meeting or adjourned meeting to which it relates. 

52.4 If a proxy notice is not executed by the person appointing the proxy, it must be 

accompanied by written evidence of the authority of the person who executed it to execute 
it on the appointor’s behalf. 

53. AMENDMENTS TO RESOLUTIONS 

53.1 An ordinary resolution to be proposed at a general meeting may be amended by ordinary 
resolution if: 

53.1.1 notice of the proposed amendment is given to the Company in writing by a 

person entitled to vote at the general meeting at which it is to be proposed not 
less than 48 hours before the meeting is to take place (or such later time as the 
chair of the meeting may determine), and 

53.1.2 the proposed amendment does not, in the reasonable opinion of the chair of the 
meeting, materially alter the scope of the resolution. 

53.2 A special resolution to be proposed at a general meeting may be amended by ordinary 
resolution, if: 

53.2.1 the chair of the meeting proposes the amendment at the general meeting at 
which the resolution is to be proposed, and 

53.2.2 the amendment does not go beyond what is necessary to correct a grammatical 
or other non-substantive error in the resolution. 

53.3 If the chair of the meeting, acting in good faith, wrongly decides that an amendment to a 
resolution is out of order, the chair’s error does not invalidate the vote on that resolution. 

54. WRITTEN RESOLUTIONS 

54.1 A written resolution, proposed in accordance with section 288(3) of the Companies Act 
2006, will lapse if it is not passed before the end of the period of 40 days beginning with 

the circulation date. 

54.2 For the purposes of this Article 54 “circulation date” is the date on which copies of the 
written resolution are sent or submitted to Shareholders or, if copies are sent or submitted 
on different dates, to the first of those dates. 

55. NUMBER OF VOTES 

Subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any class or classes of 
Shares, on a written resolution every holder of A Shares has one vote in respect of each A 
Share held by him and on a show of hands at a general meeting every holder of A Shares 
entitled to vote and who is present by a representative has one vote. 

Page 116



 

 20 
OFFICIAL 

56. COMPLIANCE WITH THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES ORDER 

56.1 The Company is a “controlled company” within the meaning of Article 4(1) of the Local 
Authorities Order because its Shareholders are the following local authorities (each an 
“Authority”, together the “Authorities”): 

56.1.1 Bedford Borough Council; 

56.1.2 Cumbria County Council; 

56.1.3 Durham County Council; 

56.1.4 The East Riding of Yorkshire Council; 

56.1.5 Lincolnshire County Council; 

56.1.6 Middlesbrough Borough Council; 

56.1.7 North Yorkshire County Council; 

56.1.8 The Council of the Borough of South Tyneside; 

56.1.9 South Yorkshire Pensions Authority; 

56.1.10 Surrey County Council; and 

56.1.11 Warwickshire County Council. 

56.2 The Company shall comply with the requirements of the Local Authorities Order in so far as 
it relates to the Company. 

ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS 

57. COMPANY COMMUNICATION PROVISIONS 

57.1 Where: 

57.1.1 a document or information is sent by post (whether in hard copy or electronic 
form) to an address in the United Kingdom; and 

57.1.2 the Company is able to show that it was properly addressed, prepaid and posted, 

it is deemed to have been received by the intended recipient 48 hours after it was posted 
(unless the Company can demonstrate that such properly addressed (to an address in the 

United Kingdom) and posted document or information was prepaid by first class post in 
which case it shall be deemed to have been received by the intended recipient 24 hours 
after it was posted). 

57.2 Where: 

57.2.1 a document or information is sent or supplied in electronic form; and 

57.2.2 the Company is able to show that it was properly addressed, 

it is deemed to have been received by the intended recipient immediately after it was sent. 

57.3 Pursuant to section 1147(6) of the 2006 Act, subsections (2), (3) and (4) of that section 
shall be deemed modified by Articles 56.1 and 56.2. 

57.4 Subject to any requirements of the 2006 Act, documents and notices may be sent to the 
Company in electronic form to the address specified by the Company for that purpose and 

Page 117



 

 21 
OFFICIAL 

such documents or notices sent to the Company are sufficiently authenticated if the identity 

of the sender is confirmed in the way the Company has specified. 

58. COMPANY SEALS 

58.1 Any common seal may only be used by the authority of the directors. 

58.2 The directors may decide by what means and in what form any common seal is to be used. 

58.3 Unless otherwise decided by the directors, if the Company has a common seal and it is 
affixed to a document, the document must also be signed by at least one authorised person 
in the presence of a witness who attests the signature. 

58.4 For the purposes of this Article 58, an authorised person is: 

58.4.1 any director of the Company; 

58.4.2 the company secretary (if any); or 

58.4.3 any person authorised by the directors for the purpose of signing documents to 

which the common seal is applied. 

59. PUBLIC ACCESS TO MINUTES OF MEETINGS AND RIGHTS TO INSPECT ACCOUNTS 
AND OTHER RECORDS 

In accordance with the requirements of the Local Authorities Order, the minutes of any 
general meeting shall be made available for public inspection for a period of 4 years from 
the date of such a meeting. 

60. DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE 

60.1 Subject to, and so far as may be permitted by, the 2006 Act and the FCA Rules and without 
prejudice to any indemnity to which the person concerned may be otherwise entitled, the 

Company may indemnify every director, former director, alternate director, secretary or 
other officer of the Company or of any associated company (as defined in section 256 of 
the 2006 Act) against any liabilities incurred by him in the execution and discharge of his 
duties or the exercise of his powers or otherwise in relation to or in connection with his 

duties, powers or office, including any liability which may attach to him in respect of any 
negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust in relation to anything done or omitted 
to be done or alleged to have been done or omitted to be done by him as a director, former 
director, alternate director, secretary or other officer of the Company or of any such 
associated company and against any such liability incurred by him in connection with the 
Company’s activities as trustee of an occupational pension scheme as defined in section 
235(b) of the 2006 Act. 

60.2 Subject to the 2006 Act the directors may purchase and maintain at the cost of the 
Company insurance cover for or for the benefit of every director, former director, alternate 
director, secretary or other officer of the Company or of any associated company (as defined 
in section 256 of the 2006 Act) against any liability which may attach to him in respect of 

any negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust by him in relation to the Company 
(or such associated company), including anything done or omitted to be done or alleged to 

have been done or omitted to be done by him as a director, former director, alternate 
director, secretary or other officer of the Company or associated company. 

61. REGISTERED OFFICE 

The Company’s registered office is to be situated in England and Wales. 

62. LIMITED LIABILITY 

The liability of the members is limited. 

Page 118



 

 22 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cloud UK 209991244v2 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Shareholder Committee Work Programme 
 

Meeting Date Items of Business 

25 May 2021 1. Brierley Group Annual Report 2020/21 & Brierley Group 
Business Plans 

 
2. Align Property Partners – Articles of Association 
 
3.    NYnet Ltd – Articles of Association  
 
4.    Work Programme 2021/22 

14 September 2021 1. Brierley Group Q1 2021/22 Performance Report 
 

 2.    Work Programme 2021/22 
 

18 January 2022 1. Brierley Group Q2 2021/22 Performance Report 
 
2.  Work Programme 2021/22 

21 June 2022 @ 
12:30pm 
 

1.   Brierley Group Q3 2021/22 Performance Report 
 
  2.  Work Programme 2021/22 
 

18 October 2022 
@ 12:30pm 

1.   Brierley Group Q4 2021/22 Report & Summary of Brierley 
Group Business Plans 
 

 2.   Work Programme 2022/23 
 

14 February 2023 @ 
1pm 

1. Transferal of Shares in District and Borough Companies to 
NYCC 
 

2. Work Programme 2022/23 

21 March 2023 
@ 1pm 

1. Brierley Group Q2 2022/23 Performance Report 
 
 2.   Border to Coast Governance Arrangements 

3 .  Work Programme 2022/23 

 20 June 2023 @ 
12:30pm 

1.   Brierley Group Q3 2022/23 Performance Report 
 
  2.  Work Programme 2023/24 
 

17 October 2023 @ 
12:30pm 

1.   Brierley Group Q1 2023/24 Report & Summary of 
Brierley Group Business Plans 
 

 2.   Work Programme 2023/24 
 

20 March 2024 @ 
12:30pm 

1. Brierley Group Q2 2023/24 Performance Report 
 
2.  Work Programme 2023/24 

 

Page 121

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 14 February 2023
	5 Brierley Group Quarter 3 2022/23 Performance Report
	6 Border to Coast Governance Arrangements
	Appendix 1 – Inter-Authority Agreement (confidential)
	Appendix 2 – Shareholder Agreement (confidential)
	Appendix 3 - Articles of Association

	7 Work Programme

